
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

FORT LAUDERDALE DIVISION

CASE NO.:

TASHUNBEE BENNETT, an individual,

on behalf of himself and all others

similarly situated,

Plaintiff,

v. CLASS ACTION

STARBOARD GROUP MANAGEMENT

COMPANY INCORPORATED, a

Florida corporation,

Defendant.

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES AND INCIDENTAL RELIEF

Plaintiff, Tashunbee Bennett, an individual, on behalf of himself and all others similarly

situated, sues Defendant, Starboard Group Management Company Incorporated, a Florida

corporation, and alleges:

I. ALLEGATIONS AS TO PARTIES

1. Plaintiff, Tashunbee Bennett ("Mr. Bennett"), is suijuris and a resident of the State

of Georgia and is a "consumer" under 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(c).

2. At all times material hereto, Defendant, Starboard Group Management Company

Incorporated ("Starboard Group"), was a Florida corporation, organized and existing under the

laws of the State of Florida.

3. At all times relevant to this Complaint, Starboard Group was a "person" using

"consumer reports" to make "employment decisions" and take "adverse action" against

"consumers," as those terms are defined in 15 U.S.C. § 1681a.
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4. The Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28

U.S.C. § 1331 because the claims asserted in this civil action arise under the laws of the United

States, specifically 15 U.S.C. § 1681, et sequi.

5. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2).

II. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

6. Starboard Group is headquartered in Coral Springs, Florida and operates Wendy's

quick service restaurants in Alabama, Florida, Illinois, Michigan, Missouri, New Jersey,

Pennsylvania, Virginia, and Wisconsin.

7. Mr. Bennett works in the Information Technology field and has substantial work

experience in IT support and helpdesk functions.

8. On February 3, 2016, Mr. Bennett applied for a job with Starboard Group,

specifically seeking an open position as an IT Support Coordinator.

9. On February 11, 2016, Mr. Bennett received a job offer from Starboard Group for

the IT Support Coordinator position he was seeking. The offer was expressly made contingent

upon Mr. Bennett's successful completion of a background check.

10. On February 11,2016, Mr. Bennett signed Starboard Group's offer letter, returned

it to Starboard Group's Human Resources Director and began making plans to move to Florida

where he would be working.

11. Thereafter, Starboard Group engaged a background check company called Sterling

Backcheck ("Sterling") to conduct a background check on Mr. Bennett. Sterling is a consumer

reporting agency under 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(f)-

12. In its capacity as a consumer reporting agency, Sterling conducted a background

check on Mr. Bennett, prepared a report setting forth the results of its work and sold that report to
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Starboard Group. The report that Sterling prepared on Mr. Bennett was a consumer report under

15U.S.C. § 1681a(d).

13. Sterling sold Mr. Bennett's consumer report to Starboard Group for employment

purposes, which is a permissible purpose under 15 U.S.C. § 1681b.

14. On February 17,2016, Starboard Group's Human Resources Director informed Mr.

Bennett that his background check revealed a "criminal conviction" and on the basis of that

information, Starboard Group rescinded its offer of employment to Mr. Bennett.

15. The actions of Starboard Group described in the preceding paragraph constituted

"adverse action" against Mr. Bennett under 15 U.S.C. § 1681a(k).

16. Prior to taking adverse action against Mr. Bennett, Starboard Group failed to

comply with the requirements set forth in 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3). Specifically, Starboard Group

(i) filed to provide Mr. Bennett with a copy of his background check and (ii) failed to provide Mr.

Bennett with a summary of his rights under Fair Credit Reporting Act as required by 15 U.S.C. §

1681b(b)(3).

17. Mr. Bennett immediately contacted Starboard Group and informed them that he did

not have a criminal conviction and that the consumer report that Sterling had prepared on him was

inaccurate. Starboard Group refused to reconsider its decision to rescind Mr. Bennett's offer and

told him that he would need to take up the matter with Sterling.

18. Furthermore, Starboard Group did not provide Mr. Bennett with (i) a statement that

Sterling did not make the decision to take adverse action against him, (ii) notice of Mr. Bennett's

right to obtain a free copy of his consumer report from Sterling or the 60-day period for obtaining

such free copy ofhis consumer report, and (iii) notice ofMr. Bennett's right to dispute the accuracy
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or completeness of information in his consumer report. These acts and omissions were in violation

ofl5U.S.C. § 1681m(a).

19. Starboard Group's violations of the FCRA were not a mistake. Starboard Group's

conduct directed against Mr. Bennett and the putative class members was willful.

20. Upon information and belief, Starboard Group has purchased hundreds and perhaps

thousands of consumer reports from consumer reporting agencies such as Sterling, which were

then used as a basis for taking adverse action against job applicants.

21. As a matter of practice, Starboard Group regularly and consistently fails to provide

the "adverse action notice" to job applicants as required by 15 U.S.C. § 1681b(b)(3) and 15 U.S.C.

§ 1681m(a).

22. Starboard Group is well aware of its legal obligations under the FCRA. These

obligations are established in the plain language of the FCRA and in the promulgations of the

Federal Trade Commission and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau.

23. Further, upon information and belief, Starboard Group obtained or had available

substantial written materials that informed it of its duties under the FCRA. For example, Sterling,

which is Starboard Group's consumer report vendor, offers FCRA compliance information and

forms necessary to comply with FCRA employment background screening requirements, as well

as other FCRA compliance material specifically targeted to employers, on its website.

24. Despite knowing of these legal obligations, Starboard Group acted consciously and

willfully in breaching its known duties and depriving Mr. Bennett and the putative class members

of their rights under the FCRA.

25. Starboard Group's conduct as alleged herein was consistent with its established and

systematically executed procedures and policies of noncompliance with the FCRA.
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26. Therefore, Starboard Group's conduct was willful and entitles Mr. Bennett and the

putative class members to recover punitive damages for their violations of the FCRA.

III. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

A. The FCRA Class

27. Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3), Mr. Bennett brings this action individually and

on behalf of a class initially defined as follows ("the Class"):

All employees or prospective employees of Starboard Group residing in the United

States (including all territories and other political subdivisions of the United States)

who were the subject of a consumer report used by Starboard Group to make an

employment decision and against whom Starboard Group took an adverse action

based in whole or in part on information contained in the consumer report before

providing the applicant with a copy of the consumer report or other adverse action

disclosures during the two year period prior to the filing of the Complaint to

certification.

B. Numerosity

28. The Class members are so numerous that joinder of all is impractical. Starboard

Group operates over 180 Wendy's restaurants in Alabama, Florida, Illinois, Michigan, Missouri,

New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Virginia and Wisconsin. During the relevant time period, the average

fast food restaurant, like Wendy's, had more than 15 employees. In light of the high turnover rate

of fast food employees, it is projected that the Class would contain hundreds, if not thousands of

members who are geographically dispersed over nine states. Thus, joinder of all Class members

is impractical. The names and addresses of the Class members are identifiable through documents

maintained by Starboard Group, and the Class members may be notified of the pendency of this

action by published and/or mailed notice. Upon information and belief, the class will consist of

thousands of class members.
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C. Commonality

29. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Class. These

questions predominate over the questions affecting only individual members. These common legal

and factual questions include, among other things: (a) whether Starboard Group provided a copy

of the consumer report to the applicant or employee prior to refusing to hire the applicant or

terminating the employee based on the results thereof; (b) whether Starboard Group provided a

copy of a summary of the applicant or employee's rights under the FCRA before declining to hire,

promote or discharging the applicant or employee; (c) whether Starboard Group waited an

appropriate length of time before taking adverse action against Class Members and (d) whether

Starboard Group acted knowingly and intentionally or with conscious disregard ofthe rights ofthe

consumers.

D. Typicality

30. Mr. Bennett's claims are typical of the claims of each Class member and all are

based on the same facts and legal theories. Upon information and belief, it is Starboard Group's

standard hiring practice to obtain and rely on consumer reports for employment purposes, refusing

to hire applicants without giving them any advance notice of the adverse action, without first

providing them with a copy of their consumer report, and without providing them with a summary

oftheir rights under the FCRA before taking the adverse action. For purposes of class certification

only, Mr. Bennetts seeks only statutory and punitive damages. Mr. Bennett would seek individual

or actual damages only if class certification is denied. In addition, Mr. Bennett is entitled to the

relief under the same causes of action as the other members of the Class.
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E. Adequacy

31. Mr. Bennett will fairly and adequately protect the interests ofthe class. Mr. Bennett

has retained counsel experienced in handling actions involving unlawful practices against

consumers and class actions. Neither Mr. Bennett nor his counsel have any interests that might

cause them not to vigorously pursue this action. Mr. Bennett is aware of his responsibilities to the

putative class and has accepted such responsibilities.

32. Certification of the class under Rule 23(b)(3) of the Federal Rules of Civil

Procedure is also appropriate in that:

a. Predominance - As alleged above, the questions of law or fact common to

the members ofthe classes predominate over any questions affecting an individual member. Each

of the common facts and legal questions in the case overwhelm the more modest individual

damages issues. The statutory and punitive damages sought by each member are such that the

individual prosecution would prove burdensome and expensive given the complex and extensive

litigation necessitated by Starboard Group's conduct. Further, any individual issues that might

exist can be effectively streamlined and resolved in a manner that minimizes the individual

complexities and differences in proof in the case.

b. Superiority - A class action is superior to other available methods for the

fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy. Consumer claims generally are ideal for class

treatment as they involve many, if not most, consumers who are otherwise disempowered and

unable to afford and bring such claims individually. Further, most consumers whom the

Defendants refused to hire or whose employment was terminated based on a consumer report

without complying with the requirements of the FCRA are likely unaware of their rights under

the law or of who they could find to represent them in federal litigation. Individual litigation of
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the uniform issues in this case would be a waste ofjudicial resources as well. The issues at the

core of this case are class wide and should be resolved at one time.

COUNT I - VIOLATION OF 15 U.S.C. 8'l681B(BV3)

33. Starboard Group wilfully violated 15 U.S.C. § 1681 b(b)(3) by failing to provide a

copy of the consumer report used to make an employment decision and the statutorily-required

summary of rights to Mr. Bennett and members of the Class before taking adverse action against

them based in whole or in part on such reports.

34. As a proximate result of Starboard Group's willful violations of law described in

the preceding paragraph, Mr. Bennett and members of the Class have suffered injury and are

entitled to recover statutory damages and punitive damages, as well as attorney's fees and costs

pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681 n. In the alternative, Mr. Bennett is entitled to recover actual damages

he has suffered as well as attorney's fees and costs for himself and all others similarly situated for

Starboard Group's negligent violation of the FCRA pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1681o.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Tashunbee Bennett, an individual, on behalf of himself and all

others similarly situated, respectfully requests judgment be entered in his favor and in favor of the

class against Defendant, Starboard Group Management Company Incorporated, a Florida

corporation, for:

A. Statutory damages pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1692k;

B. Punitive damages pursuant to their violations of the FCRA;

C. An award of costs and attorney's fees, including pre-judgment and post-judgment

interest at the legal rate; and

D. Such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and equitable.
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Plaintiff, Plaintiff, Tashunbee Bennett, an individual, on behalf of himself and all others

similarly situated, pursuant to Rule 38(b), Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, demands a trial by

jury of all issues so triable.

Respectfully submitted this 17th day of March, 2(

[Robert W. Mufthy/

Horida Bar No. 71/7223

»12S.E./dAvehue
FottLauderdale, Florida 33316

Telephone: (95f) 763-86060

Fax: (954)763^607
Email: nvmurpnyffilawfirmmurphv.eom:

rphyu(ajaol.com

Craig E. Bertschi pro hac admission pending

Georgia Bar No. 055739

Charles J. Cole pro hac admission pending

Georgia Bar No. 176704

McRae Bertschi & Cole LLC

Suite 200, 1350 Center Drive

Dunwoody, Georgia 30338

Telephone: (678)999-1100

Email: cebft/imcraebertschi.eom;

cie@ineraebertschi.com

Counselfor Plaintiff
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AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

Case 0:17-cv-60566-CMA   Document 1-2   Entered on FLSD Docket 03/20/2017   Page 1 of 2

        Southern District of Florida

Tashunbee Bennett, an individual, on behalf of 
himself and all others similarly situated

Starboard Group Management Company 
Incorporated, a Florida corporation

Starboard Group Management Company Incorporated 
 
By serving its Registered Agent: 
Andrew Levy 
12540 West Atlantic Boulevard 
Coral Springs, Florida 33071 

Robert W. Murphy, Esquire, 1212 S.E. 2nd Avenue, Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33316 / 
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

’ I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

’ I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

’ I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

’ I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

’ Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:
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This complaint is part of ClassAction.org's searchable class action lawsuit database and can be found in this 
post: Starboard Group Management Co. Tossed with FCRA Lawsuit

https://www.classaction.org/news/starboard-group-management-co-tossed-with-fcra-lawsuit



